THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKER'S COMPENSATION COMMISSION

W.C.C. File No. 1512151

Appellate Case No. 2018-000216

Donna Dozier, Claimant, Appellant

v.

Georgetown County School District, Employer
And
SC School Boards Insurance Trust, Carrier, Respondents

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Neil D. Wright, Esq., SC Bar #6240
BARNETT & WRIGHT, P.A.
1304 Azalea Court, Suite B
Myrtle Beach, SC 29577-5723
Office: (843) 449-0781 Ext. #3
Fax: (843) 449-1583
nwright@barnettandwright.com
Attorney for Appellant

RECEIVED
SEP 07 2018
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. **DID THE APPELLATE PANEL OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERR BY DETERMINING THAT THE APPELLANT'S AVERAGE WEEKLY WAGE AT THE TIME OF HER INJURY WAS \$200.77 PER WEEK AND THAT HER CORRESPONDING COMPENSATION RATE IS \$133.86?**

2. **SHOULD THIS MATTER BE REMANDED TO THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKER'S COMPENSATION COMMISSION PURSUANT TO THE AUTHORITY OF SC CODE ANN. §1-23-380(3) (2006) TO TAKE ADDITIONAL MATERIAL EVIDENCE CONCERNING THE APPELLANT'S AVERAGE WEEKLY WAGE WHICH WAS NOT AVAILABLE FOR PRESENTATION TO THE COMMISSION DURING THE PROCEEDING BEFORE THE COMMISSION BECAUSE SUCH MATERIAL EVIDENCE WAS UNLAWFULLY WITHHELD BY THE RESPONDENTS WHO FAILED TO COMPLY WITH A LAWFUL DOCUMENT PRODUCTION SUBPOENA?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant Donna Dozier was hired by the Respondent Georgetown County School District on October 1, 2014 to work as a food service operator in the cafeteria of Waccamaw Intermediate School. The Appellant's written employment contract with the Respondent Georgetown County School District required Appellant to work for a total of one hundred fifty (150) days during the 2014-2015 school year which ended on June 5, 2015. (R. p. 471; R. p. 372) The Appellant did not work for the Respondent Georgetown County School District again until the beginning of the 2015-2016 school year.

On the morning of August 19, 2015, at the beginning of the 2015-2016 school year, the Appellant returned to work for the Respondent Georgetown County School District as a food service operator at Waccamaw Intermediate School. While walking toward the school cafeteria on the premises of the Waccamaw Intermediate School, the Appellant slipped on rocks and fell on both of her knees. The Appellant alleged that she suffered injuries to both of her knees when she fell on the morning of August 19, 2015. The Respondents admitted

that the Appellant suffered a compensable injury to her right knee on August 19, 2015 but denied that the Appellant suffered a compensable injury to her left knee. The Respondents provided medical care for treatment of the injury to the Appellant's right knee, including arthroscopic surgery in January of 2016 to repair a torn meniscus in the Appellant's right knee. The Appellant received orthopedic medical care for the injury to her right knee at Coastal Orthopedic Associates, P.A., in Conway, South Carolina, where she received medical treatment from Kevin Bunn, M.D., and Todd M. Tupis, M.D. The Respondents refused to provide medical care for the Appellant's left knee.

On October 31, 2016, Todd M. Tupis, M.D., determined that the Appellant had reached maximum medical improvement with respect to her right knee. The Respondents then filed South Carolina Workers Compensation Commission ("SCWCC") Form 21 Employer's Request for Hearing pursuant to SC Code Ann. §42-9-260(D) (1988) to stop payment of Appellant's temporary compensation. The Appellant responded by filing a SCWCC Form 22 Answer to Employer's Request for Hearing which denied that the Appellant had reached maximum medical improvement and alleged that the Appellant required additional medical treatment.

On March 21, 2017, a hearing was held on the issues raised in the Respondents' Form 21 and the Appellant's Form 22 by SCWCC Commissioner Gene McCaskill. At that hearing Appellant's legal counsel challenged the Respondents' calculation of Appellant's average weekly wage and compensation rate as set forth on a Form 20 prepared by the Respondents' claim representative, James Lindler of the SC School Boards Insurance Trust. As there was a dispute concerning Appellant's average weekly wage, Commissioner McCaskill agreed to hold the record open to permit counsel for the parties to submit additional information

relevant to the determination of Appellant's average weekly wage and further agreed to determine the issue if counsel could not agree upon a stipulation concerning the Appellant's average weekly wage (Transcript of Hearing of March 21, 2017-R. p. 63, line 8 through line 18).

Following the hearing, on March 28, 2017, counsel for Appellant served a document production subpoena upon counsel for the Respondent Georgetown County School District which specifically requested documents that set forth the Appellant's compensation rate and the number of weeks that Appellant worked for the Respondent Georgetown County School District prior to her injury. (Appellant's Exhibit 2 to the Deposition of Catherine Calli Pope-R. pp. 373-377). Despite the fact that documents responsive to the Appellant's document production subpoena were in the possession of the Respondent Georgetown County School District at all times (Appellant's Exhibit 1 to the Deposition of Catherine Calli Pope-R. pp. 355-372; Transcript of Deposition of Catherine Calli Pope-R. p. 323, line 9 through line 21; Appellant's Exhibits 1 and 2 to the Deposition of Douglas Jenkins-R. pp. 469-470), such documents were not produced in response to the Appellant's document production subpoena as the document production subpoena was not delivered by Respondent's counsel to the Director of Human Resources of the Respondent Georgetown County School District or the Appellant's former supervisor, Catherine Calli Pope. (Transcript of Deposition of Douglas Jenkins, Director of Human Resources-R. p. 422, line 20 - p. 441, line 10; Transcript of Deposition of Catherine Calli Pope-R. p. 342, line 19 - p. 343, line 21).

As counsel for the Appellant and counsel for the Respondents could not agree upon a stipulation concerning the Appellant's average weekly wage, Commissioner McCaskill had to make a determination concerning the Appellant's average weekly wage without the benefit

of relevant documents withheld by the Respondents. Such documents clearly establish the Appellant's compensation rate and the number of weeks actually worked by the Appellant prior to her injury and clearly refute the purported average weekly wage calculation set forth in the Form 20 prepared by the Respondents' representative James Lindler.

On August 16, 2017, Commissioner McCaskill issued an Interim Decision and Order which determined that the Appellant had not reached maximum medical improvement, that the Appellant was entitled to receive medical care and treatment for the injury to her left knee, and that the Respondents were obligated to pay for any and all reasonable and customary causally related medical care and treatment for the Appellant's left knee injury as provided or directed by Todd M. Tupis, M.D. Commissioner McCaskill's Interim Decision and Order further set forth his determination that Respondents' calculation of the Appellant's average weekly wage at \$200.77, as reflected on the Form 20 filed by the Respondents, most correctly reflects the directives of the Act concerning calculation of average weekly wage. The Respondents did not appeal Commissioner McCaskill's Interim Decision and Order. The Appellant timely filed a Form 30 Request for Full Commission Review challenging Commissioner McCaskill's determination of the Appellant's average weekly wage and compensation rate.

The Respondents have provided medical care and treatment for the injury to the Appellant's left knee in accordance with Commissioner McCaskill's Interim Decision and Order. Todd M. Tupis, M.D., the treating physician for the Appellant's left knee injury has filed SCWCC Form 14B, Physician's Statement, which sets forth his medical opinion to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that the Appellant reached maximum medical improvement on January 15, 2018. The Respondents have again filed SCWCC Form 21

Employer's Request for Hearing pursuant to SC Code §42-9-260(D) (1988) to stop payment of Appellant's temporary compensation. The Appellant has filed SCWCC Form 50 requesting an award of permanent total general disability benefits, an award of additional medical care and treatment to lessen the period of her disability, an award of appropriate benefits for serious bodily disfigurement as a result of Appellant's obvious limp, and an award of additional temporary total disability benefits from August 19, 2015 until January 15, 2018 to reflect the Appellant's correct compensation rate. The Respondents have filed their SCWCC Form 51 in response to the Appellant's SCWCC Form 50. A hearing before Commissioner McCaskill is pending with respect to the Respondents' Form 21, the Appellant's Form 50, and the Respondents' Form 51.

The Full Commission heard the Appellant's Request for Full Commission Review of Commissioner McCaskill's determination of the Appellant's average weekly wage and compensation rate on November 14, 2017. The Full Commission's Appellate Panel, which also had to make a determination concerning the Appellant's average weekly wage without the benefit of relevant documents withheld by the Respondents, affirmed Commissioner McCaskill's determination of the Appellant's average weekly wage and compensation rate by its Decision and Order dated January 12, 2018. Appellant received a copy of the Commission's Appellate Panel Decision and Order by an e-mail transmission from the Commission on January 12, 2018.

The Decision and Order of the Full Commission's Appellate Panel dated January 12, 2018 is not a final agency decision that disposes of the whole subject matter of the Appellant's workers compensation proceeding as further proceedings are currently pending before the SCWCC. The Decision and Order of the Full Commission's Appellate Panel

dated January 12, 2018 may therefore not be immediately appealable. Nevertheless, out of an abundance of caution and mindful of arguments that the Respondents would make and have made concerning the applicability of the concept of *res judicata*, the Appellant appealed the Decision and Order of the Commission's Appellate Panel by filing and serving her Notice of Appeal in this Honorable Court on February 9, 2018.

While this appeal has been pending, the Appellant has conducted further discovery pertaining to the Appellant's average weekly wage in preparation for the final hearing on the merits with respect to the Respondents' Form 21, the Appellant's Form 50, and the Respondents' Form 51. That discovery has included a document production subpoena served upon the Respondent Georgetown County School District and the depositions of Douglas Jenkins, the designated Rule 30(b)(6) representative of the Respondent Georgetown County School District, and Catherine Calli Pope, the Appellant's former immediate supervisor at the Waccamaw Intermediate School cafeteria. The depositions were taken on April 16, 2018. The discovery has produced records and testimony that irrefutably establish that the Form 20 prepared by the Respondents' claim representative, James Lindler of the SC School Boards Insurance Trust, and relied upon by Commissioner McCaskill and the Full Commission Appellate Panel is inaccurate and materially understates the Appellant's average weekly wage and compensation rate.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act establishes the substantial evidence standard for judicial review of decisions by the Appellate Panel of the Workers Compensation Commission. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380 (Supp.2010); *Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 130, 276 S.E.2d 304 (1981). Under the substantial evidence standard of review, the

appellate court may not “substitute its judgment for that of the [Appellate Panel] as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact, but may reverse where the decision is affected by an error of law.” *Stone v. Traylor Bros.*, 360 S.C. 271, 274, 600 S.E.2d 551, 552 (Ct.App.2004). “Substantial evidence is not a mere scintilla of evidence, nor the evidence viewed blindly from one side of the case, but is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusions the administrative agency reached in order to justify its actions.” *Broughton v. S. of the Border*, 336 S.C. 488, 495, 520 S.E.2d 634, 637 (Ct.App.1999). In workers' compensation cases, the Appellate Panel is the ultimate fact finder. *Shealy v. Aiken Cnty.*, 341 S.C. 448, 455, 535 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2000). The Appellate Panel is reserved the task of assessing the credibility of the witnesses and the weight to be accorded evidence.

Under section 1-23-380(A) of the APA, “[a] party who has exhausted all administrative remedies available within the agency and who is aggrieved by a final decision in a contested case is entitled to judicial review....” S.C.Code Ann. § 1-23-380(A) (Supp.2007). “An agency decision which does not decide the merits of a contested case ... is not a final agency decision subject to judicial review....” [404 S.C. 74] *S.C. Baptist Hosp. v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl Control*, 291 S.C. 267, 270, 353 S.E.2d 277, 279 (1987). “A final judgment disposes of the whole subject matter of the action or terminates the particular proceeding or action, leaving nothing to be done but to enforce by execution what has been determined.” *Charlotte-Mecklenburg Hosp. Auth. v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl Control*, 387 S.C. 265, 267, 692 S.E.2d 894, 895 (2010); *Bone v. U.S. Food Service*, 404 S.C. 67, 744 S.E.2d 552 (S.C. 2013). “A preliminary, procedural, or intermediate agency action or ruling

is immediately reviewable if review of the final agency decision would not provide an adequate remedy.” S.C.Code Ann. § 1-23-380(A).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Appellant Donna Dozier was hired by the Respondent Georgetown County School District on October 1, 2014 to work as a food service operator in the cafeteria of Waccamaw Intermediate School. (Appellant’s Exhibit 1 to the Deposition of Catherine Calli Pope R. pp. 355-372) The Appellant’s written employment contract with the Respondent Georgetown County School District required Appellant to work for a total of one hundred fifty (150) days during the 2014-2015 school year which ended on June 5, 2015. (Appellant’s Exhibit 3 to the Deposition of Douglas Jenkins, Director of Human Resources for the Respondent Georgetown County School District R. p. 471) The Appellant actually worked no more than thirty-three (33) weeks during the 2014-2015 school year which ended on June 5, 2015 (Appellant’s Exhibit 1 to the Deposition of Catherine Calli Pope R. pp. 355-372; Transcript of Deposition of Douglas Jenkins, Director of Human Resources R. p. 441, line 21-p. 442, line 23) and earned gross wages in the amount of \$7,830.19 for her service as a food service operator for the Respondent Georgetown County School District.

The Appellant’s normal work hours at Waccamaw Intermediate School were 8:00 A.M. to 2:00 P.M. The Appellant normally worked six (6) hours per day, five (5) days per week and thirty (30) hours per week. (Transcript of Hearing of March 21, 2017, R. p. 68, line 18-p. 69, Line 5; Appellant’s Exhibit 1 to the Deposition of Catherine Calli Pope R. pp. 355-372; Appellant’s Exhibit 1 to the Deposition of Douglas Jenkins R. p. 469): The Appellant earned \$10.61 per hour for each hour and \$63.66 for each day that she worked for the Respondent Georgetown County School District. (Appellant’s Exhibits 1 and 2 to the

Deposition of Douglas Jenkins R. pp. 469-470; Transcript of Deposition of Douglas Jenkins, Director of Human Resources, R. p. 433, line 11-p. 435, Line 15; R. p. 439, line 3-p. 440, line 1)

Dividing the \$7,830.19 gross wages earned by the Appellant during the 2014-2015 school year by the thirty three (33) weeks actually worked by the Appellant during the 2014-2015 school year yields an average weekly wage of \$237.28. The Appellant's written employment contract with the Respondent Georgetown County School District is silent on the issue of the amount and frequency of payment of the Appellant's compensation.

On the morning of August 19, 2015, at the beginning of the 2015-2016 school year, the Appellant returned to work as a food service operator at Waccamaw Intermediate School. While walking toward the school cafeteria on the premises of the Waccamaw Intermediate School, the Appellant slipped on rocks and fell on both of her knees. The Appellant alleged that she suffered injuries to both of her knees when she fell on the morning of August 19, 2015. The Respondents admitted that the Appellant suffered a compensable injury to her right knee on August 19, 2015 but denied that the Appellant suffered a compensable injury to her left knee. The Respondents provided medical care for treatment of the injury to the Appellant's right knee, including arthroscopic surgery in January of 2016 to repair a torn meniscus in the Appellant's right knee. The Appellant received orthopedic medical care for the injury to her right knee at Coastal Orthopedic Associates, P.A., in Conway, South Carolina, where she received medical treatment from Kevin Bunn, M.D., and Todd M. Tupis, M.D. The Respondents refused to provide medical care for the Appellant's left knee.

On October 31, 2016, Todd M. Tupis, M.D., determined that the Appellant had reached maximum medical improvement with respect to her right knee. The Respondents

then filed South Carolina Workers Compensation Commission (“SCWCC”) Form 21 Employer’s Request for Hearing pursuant to SC Code §42-9-260(D) (1988) to stop payment of Appellant’s temporary compensation. The Appellant responded by filing a SCWCC Form 22 Answer to Employer’s Request for Hearing which denied that the Appellant had reached maximum medical improvement and alleged that the Appellant required additional medical treatment.

On March 21, 2017, a hearing was held on the issues raised in the Respondents’ Form 21 and the Appellant’s Form 22 by SCWCC Commissioner Gene McCaskill. At the hearing Appellant’s legal counsel challenged the Respondents’ calculation of Appellant’s average weekly wage and compensation rate as set forth on a Form 20 prepared by the Respondents’ claim representative, James Lindler of the SC School Boards Insurance Trust. James Lindler did not utilize the then current Form 20 as required by SC Code of Regulations 67-203 (2010) which required him to designate the applicable method of computation of Appellant’s average weekly wage. (Appellant’s Exhibit 4 to the Deposition of Douglas Jenkins R. p. 472) As the Appellant had not completed four quarters of employment with the Respondent Georgetown County School District during the 2014-2015 school year, the then current Form 20 required James Lindler to report the Appellants earnings based on actual time worked (33 weeks). Instead, James Lindler divided the Appellant’s gross wages earned during the 2014-2015 school year by thirty-nine (39) weeks which yielded an average weekly wage of \$200.77 and materially understated the Appellant’s actual average weekly wage and compensation rate. (Appellant’s Exhibit 5 to the Deposition of Douglas Jenkins R. p. 473) The Appellant did not actually work thirty-nine (39) weeks prior to her injury; rather, she worked no more

than thirty-three (33) weeks prior to her injury (Transcript of Deposition of Douglas Jenkins, Director of Human Resources, R. p. 441 line 21-p. 442 line 23).

As there was a dispute concerning Appellant's average weekly wage, the Hearing Commissioner agreed to hold the record open to permit counsel for the parties to submit additional information relevant to the determination of Appellant's average weekly wage and agreed to determine the issue if counsel could not agree upon a stipulation concerning the Appellant's average weekly wage (Transcript of Hearing, R. p. 63 lines 8-18). Following the hearing, counsel for Appellant served a document production subpoena upon counsel for the Respondent Georgetown County School District which specifically requested, among others, the following documents:

- “6. *All documents, including but not limited to work schedules, employee time cards, time sheets, or time records, payroll records, and employee earnings statements that accurately reflect the number of hours and/or the number of days that Donna Dozier actually worked for you as a food service worker/employee during the 2014-2015 Georgetown County School District school year. (Emphasis supplied)...*
8. *All documents, including but not limited to work schedules, employee time cards, time sheets, or time records, payroll records, and employee earnings statements that either indicate or may be used to compute the gross hourly pay/wage/compensation rate paid to Donna Dozier by you for each hour of her actual service as a food service worker/employee during the 2014-2015 Georgetown County School District school year. (Emphasis supplied)....*
9. *All documents, including but not limited to work schedules, employee time cards, time sheets, or time records, payroll records, and employee earnings statements that either indicate or may be used to compute the gross daily pay/earnings/compensation paid to Donna Dozier by you for each day of her actual service as a food service worker/employee during the 2014-2015 Georgetown County School District school year, before deductions for South Carolina retirement system contributions, employee medical insurance premium payments, employee dental insurance premium payments, employee optional life insurance payments, employee FICA contributions, employee federal withholding tax, and South Carolina withholding tax.” (Emphasis supplied)*
(Appellant's Exhibit 2 to the Deposition of Catherine Calli Pope R. pp. 373-377)

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