THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
W.C.C. File No. 1512151

Appellate Case No. 2018-000216

Donna Dozier, Claimant, Appellant

v.

Georgetown County School District, Employer, and
SC School Boards Insurance Trust, Carrier, Respondents

RECEIVED

OCT 01 2018

SC Court of Appeals

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Timothy B. Killen, Esq.
Holder Padgett Littlejohn + Prickett, LLC
349 West Coleman Blvd, Suite 300
Mt. Pleasant, South Carolina 29464
Office: (843) 277-0826
Fax: (843) 589-9000
tkillen@hplplaw.com
Attorneys for Respondents

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

The Appellate Panel effectively remanded the claim by determining Appellant required additional medical treatment as she was not yet at MMI. ROA 11. Absent settlement, either party would have to request another hearing before a single Commissioner (which Appellant, in fact, has now done) once she reaches MMI to receive a final award. Additionally, because Appellant had not reached MMI, the Appellate Panel was unable to enter a final award.

Appellant maintains an adequate remedy in review of the final agency decision and therefore is precluded from immediate review of the Appellate Panel's ruling. Appellant will not be harmed if she has to wait to appeal a Commissioner's final decision because she is currently receiving compensation for her injury. Further, because the Appellate Panel's decision was a matter of law, Appellant retains her adequate remedy of review.

Appellant readily admits in her Statement of the Case that the Appellate Panel's Order dated January 12, 2018, is not a final agency decision because it did not dispose of the whole subject matter of the claim. In addition to average weekly wage and compensation rate, the Appellate Panel's Order also determined Appellant was not yet at maximum medical

improvement. ROA 11. Because Appellant is not at MMI, the Appellate Panel was not permitted to enter a final award nor dispose of the case. Appellant further admits that she must still litigate her workers' compensation claim, and proceedings are currently pending before the SCWCC. Thus, because no final decision was made, the Order is not subject to judicial review.

The Full Commission Appellate Panel's Order is not a final decision regarding Appellant's workers' compensation claim and therefore is interlocutory in nature and not subject to judicial review by this Court.

2. WHETHER THE APPELLATE PANEL OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION CORRECTLY DETERMINED CLAIMANT'S AVERAGE WEEKLY WAGE AND COMPENSATION AS \$200.77 AND \$133.86, RESPECTIVELY?

The Appellate Panel used a correct method to determine Appellant's average weekly wage, pursuant S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-40. The result being an amount that is fair, just, and most nearly approximates the wages Claimant would be earning if not for the injury. In addition, no exceptional reasons exist which would warrant a different method of calculation. In this case, the circumstances require that Appellant's average weekly wage be calculated by dividing her total earnings by thirty-nine (39) weeks. The Appellate Panel correctly determined Appellant's average weekly wage and compensation rate to be \$200.77 and \$133.85 respectively, as shown on the Form 20.

The objective of the wage calculation is to fairly and justly approximate the employee's probable future earning capacity. *Elliott v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 362 S.C. 234, 238, 607 S.E.2d 90, 92 (Ct. App. 2004). "When the Appellate Panel determines the primary method of calculation is not permissible, it is required to consider which of the alternative methods for calculating the average weekly wage is most appropriate based on the facts." *Pugh v. Piedmont Medical*, 396 S.C. 31, 39, 719 S.E.2d 676, 680 (Ct. App. 2011). S.C. Code Ann. §42-1-40 provides that "when

employment, prior to the injury, extended over a period less than fifty-two weeks, the method of dividing earnings during that period by the number of weeks and parts thereof during which the employee earned wages shall be followed, *as long as results fair and just to both parties will be obtained.*” (emphasis added). In workers’ compensation cases, the Appellate Panel is the ultimate fact finder. *Shealy v. Aiken Cnty.*, 341 S.C. 448, 455, 535 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2000). “The first alternative method of wage calculation [dividing earnings during that period by number of weeks wages were earned] . . . is proper if two ‘predicate conditions’ exist: (1) it is ‘practicable’ to use the alternative method and (2) the calculation yields a result that is ‘fair and just’ to both parties.” *Pugh*, 396 S.C. at 39, 719 S.E.2d at 680.

In *Pugh*, this Court held that when an alternative method is used to determine average weekly wage and the record establishes the result is fair and just to both parties, it will be upheld. *Id.* at 40, 719 S.E.2d at 681. Using one of the prescribed alternative methods, the Appellate Panel determined the claimant’s average weekly wage based upon 17 weeks, and the wages earned therefrom. *Id.* at 37, 719 S.E.2d at 680. The claimant, who had worked for the company for over 30 years, had only worked 17 weeks prior to the injury because of another previous injury. *Id.* at 34, 719 S.E.2d at 678. The method of calculation resulted in a 37% decrease in average weekly wage between the two injuries. *Id.* This Court remanded the issue of average weekly wage because the Appellate Panel did not directly address in their order how the method was a fair and just result. *Id.*

Like the Appellate Panel in *Pugh*, the Appellate Panel here was required to use an alternative method because Appellant’s employment prior to her injury extended less than fifty-two weeks. Unlike the claimant in *Pugh*, Appellant did not have an extensive work history with Respondent Georgetown County. Therefore, it was appropriate for the Appellate Panel to

determine her average weekly wage based upon her term of employment divided by her gross wages earned.

Unlike the average weekly wage calculations in *Pugh*, the differentiation of rates as requested in Appellant's brief and the rate as determined by the Commission is minimal, and it *should* not require that the order directly address why it is fair and just. That said, the Appellate Panel did address how and why they arrived at their average weekly wage, and why it was fair and just. ROA 3-5. This Appellant Panel went even further that what is required by this Court in *Pugh*, by explaining in detail why Appellant's calculations were not practicable nor fair and just to all parties. ROA 4-5. Appellant sought to use a method not enumerated in the statute by using a "daily compensation rate" and removing weeks for vacation from her total term of employment. ROA 4-5.

"Average *weekly* wage" means the *earnings* of the injured employee in the employment in which he was working at the time of the injury during the period fifty-two weeks immediately preceding the date of the injury. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-40. Appellant, along with every other employee seeking benefits for a work injury under the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act, is limited by S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-40 to certain methods for which to calculate their AWW: (1) total wages *paid* for the last four quarters immediately preceding the quarter in which the injury occurred . . . divided by fifty-two or by the actual number of *weeks* for which wages were *paid* , whichever is less; (2) when the employment, prior to the injury, extended over a period of less than fifty-two *weeks*, the method of dividing the *earnings* during that period by the number of *weeks* during which the employee *earned* wages shall be followed . . . ; (3) Where by reason of shortness of time which the employee has been in the employment of his employer . . . regard is to be had to the average *weekly* amount which during the fifty-two *weeks* previous to the injury was being

earned by a person of the same grade and character employed in the same class of employment in the same locality or community.

It is clear in the language of the statute that a *week* is the only constant metric of time throughout the three methods. The statute requires all methods of calculation use a *week* as the common divisor to arrive at AWW. It is also clear that only wages *paid* or *earned* during a *week* can be used as the sum to be divided in each method. Nowhere in the statute's definition or three methods do the terms "hourly rate," "daily rate," or "actually worked" as used by Appellant in her calculation for AWW appear. ROA 4.

The Appellate Panel, by way of the evidence, established that Appellant worked fewer than 52 weeks as a food service employee for Respondents prior to her injury on August 19, 2015. ROA 9-10. The Appellate Panel correctly took note of this by bypassing the primary method for calculating average weekly wage and, instead, using the first alternative method. The Form 20 shows that Appellant earned wages of: (1) \$2,728.36 for the period ending June 30, 2015; (2) \$2,373.67 for the period ending March 31, 2015; and (3) \$2,728.26 for the period ending December 31, 2014. The sum of these figures represents the \$7,830.19 in wages Appellant was paid during her contractual employment with Respondents prior to the injury. The Appellate Panel then divided the \$7,830.19 in wages by the thirty-nine (39) weeks representing the school year, resulting in an average weekly wage of \$200.77 and compensation rate of \$133.85.

In her brief, Appellant cites the case of *Breeland v. Colleton County, et. al.*, 216 S.C. 147, 57 S.E.2d 63 (1950) in support of her calculation. Brief of Appellant p. 20-21. Unfortunately, Appellant's interpretation of the case is incorrect, because the Court in *Breeland* specifically held otherwise.

In *Breeland*, the Court held that is improper to remove weeks representing vacation and school breaks from the average weekly wage calculation. *Breeland v. Colleton County, et. al.*, 216 S.C. 147, 150, 57 S.E.2d 63, 64 (1950). That claimant, a school bus driver, was paid on a monthly basis for nine (9) months, i.e. 39 weeks. *Id.* at 149, 57 S.E.2d 64. His employment prior to his injury extended over a period of less than fifty-two (52) weeks, so the method of dividing his earnings during that period by the number of weeks during which he earned wages was used to calculate his AWW. *Id.* The Industrial Commission improperly calculated claimant's AWW and CR using thirty-six (36) weeks as the divisor, deducting three (3) weeks from the nine (9) calendar months for holidays and teachers' meetings during which the claimant did not have to drive. *Id.* The Court overruled this calculation, as the Commission failed to show exceptional reasons for excluding those three (3) weeks. *Id.* at 150, 57 S.E.2d at 64. The Court specifically noted that deducting Saturdays, Sundays, and Christmas vacation would have *artificially increased the average weekly wage*. *Id.* Thus, the Court in *Breeland* divided claimant's gross wages by thirty-nine (39) weeks, representing the entire school year. *See Breeland*, 216 S.C. 147, 57 S.E.2d 63 (1950).

Appellant attempts to argue against the very holding in *Breeland*. In her Brief, It is her proposition that her total number of weeks earning wages should be reduced because of three (3) weeks of vacation days. Initial Brief of Appellant p. 20-22. Appellant fails to not only acknowledge that the holding in *Breeland* stands for the opposite position, but also fails to acknowledge that she received payment during these weeks.

Appellant's initial argument that her average weekly wage and compensation rate should be based on her total annual salary divided by the number of work days in her contract is not represented by precedent, nor by statute. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-40 specifically uses *weeks* as the

metric of computation for the average weekly wage. Nowhere in the history of the South Carolina Workers Compensation Commission has an average weekly wage been calculated based upon a “daily rate.”

As noted by the court in *Breeland*, calculating the average weekly wage based on the Appellant’s method leads to a highly inflated and preposterous result. To wit, Appellant now demands an average weekly wage of \$237.28 based on her gross wages in the amount of \$7,830.19 divided by thirty-three (33) weeks. Calculating the rates in a manner contrary to *Breeland*, Appellant arrives at the thirty-three (33) week divisor by subtracting three (3) weeks for the school vacation days and three (3) weeks for the time she missed by starting the school year late. The resulting average weekly wage of \$237.28 would result in a salary seven percent (7%) higher than the salary she actually earned. This result is neither fair or just.

3. WHETHER, PER S.C. CODE ANN § 1-23-380(3), THE DOCUMENTS WITH WHICH APPELLANT WISHES TO SUPPLEMENT THE RECORD SHOULD BE EXCLUDED FROM THE RECORD?

A. Failure to Produce.

Appellant’s contention that this matter be remanded based on newly discovered evidence is inappropriate. Under S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(3), the court may allow the record to be supplemented by additional evidence as a long as it is material and there is a good reason for failure to initially present it. The evidence for which Appellant bases this appeal is immaterial and in no way affects the method or data used by Appellate Panel in the calculating her average weekly wage.

As explained in the paragraphs above, Appellant’s belief that some handwritten timesheets and a computer screenshot have a drastic effect on her average weekly wage calculation is ill-gotten. Based upon application of § 42-1-40 and *Breeland*, the fact that her timesheets show that

she received paid leave for sick days and holidays has no import. Appellant was already in possession of every document needed to properly calculate her average weekly wage under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-40. ROA 176-262.

In addition, claiming relevance based upon the Fair Labor Standards Act is errant. As further explained below, the FLSA's calculations do not translate and cannot be applied to an average weekly wage as they are mutually exclusive. What one calculation requires, the other forbids.

B. FLSA Argument.

The Appellant's argument that Respondents have in some way violated the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938 (29 U.S.C. §201, *et. seq.*) in the calculation of Appellant's AWW is a red herring and fails in two aspects. There are distinct and separate functions behind each Act, as well as the mutually exclusive methods of calculation used by each Act.

As the United States Supreme Court wrote: "In enacting the FLSA, Congress intended 'to protect all covered workers from substandard wages and oppressive working hours.'" *Barrentine v. Ark.-Best Freight Sys., Inc.*, 450 U.S. 728, (1981). In short, minimum wage within the context of the FLSA ensures only that employees who are physically present and working receive a minimum threshold amount of pay, calculated in terms of an hourly rate, for their services. On the other hand, the SCWCA provides compensation benefits to employees injured on the job and is calculated in terms of a weekly rate. The test for minimum wage per the FLSA is not triggered unless the employee working and engaged in commerce, and the method for calculating the employee's wage does not include paid leave. On the other hand, workers' compensation benefits are paid where the employee is not working and require a calculation which may include compensation where the employee was not providing a service to their employer.

The statutory calculations used to arrive at an employee's rate of pay for purposes of the FLSA and the statutory calculations used to arrive at AWW for the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act are mutually exclusive. The FLSA wage calculation is based upon actual physically present hours worked in a specific *single* week divided by total compensation for that specific *single* week and expressed in dollars and cents. Whereas, the AWW calculation for this state is based upon the *average* of the wages earned by/paid to the employee during the total number of weeks she was *employed* and is expressed in terms of a *week*. Appellant's arguments are undoubtedly based upon intuition rather than law, as evidenced by her blatant lack of implementation or citation of the statutorily required methods for computing these different figures. Of course, an issue is deemed abandoned and will not be considered on appeal if the argument in the brief is unsupported by authority. *See Bryson v. Bryson*, 662 S.E.2d 611, 378 S.C. 502 (Ct. App. 2008). Therefore, this issue should be deemed abandoned and this Court should not consider it.

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